
 

 
 

 
 

         23 October 2020 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 2 November 2020 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
PLEASE NOTE: this will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The link can be accessed here: 

https://bit.ly/2Hs33jW 

 
TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Richard Gomer Councillor Keith House 
Councillor Lucy Jurd Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty Councillor Bruce Tennent 
Councillor Adrian Trace Councillor Tim Bearder 

 
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 

Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk. Please email 
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak before 
the meeting. 
 

 Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; Email: 
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
Natalie Wigman 

Corporate Director – Strategy 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website - 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings 

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request. 

 
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to 

proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the 
Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It is important, however, that 

Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only 
participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers 
advising the Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to 

speak. This meeting will be recorded. 

 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

1

https://bit.ly/2Hs33jW
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation      

 Councillors not on the Local Area Committee and members of the public can 
participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways: 
 

 If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to 

be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working 

days (Midday Tuesday 27 October 2020) before the meeting. Technical and 

etiquette guides will be provided. 

 Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the 

spokesperson’.  Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days 

(Midday Thursday 29 October 2020) before the date of the meeting. 

Democratic Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read 

out. 

 The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum 

of three minutes if read out.  Please therefore restrict your statement to one 

side of A4 (12 font).  This applies audio/ video recordings also. 

 Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days 

(Midday Tuesday 27 October 2020) before the meeting.  This must be 

accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not 

meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson 

and shown on the screen.  

 Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk 
  
2. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 12)  

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2020. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      

 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

  
5. Chair's report     
 
6. Local Area Manager's Report     
 
7. Financial Management Report    (Pages 13 - 20) 
 
8. Presentation on Planning Guidelines      

 A short presentation on guidelines that must be taken into account when 
determining planning applications; in particular the issues that can, and cannot, be 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


taken into account. 
  
9. Planning Application - Land to the south of Maddoxford Lane and west of 

Westfield, Boorley Green, Botley, SO32 2DB - F/19/85178    (Pages 21 - 56)  

 Full planning application for the construction of 92 dwellings; the creation of new 
vehicular access with footways from Maddoxford Lane; provision of informal and 
formal open space, together with associated highways, landscape, and earth 
works and level changes, foul and surface water drainage facilities, utilities 
provision and other associated and necessary infrastructure. 

  
10. Planning Application - 33 Cranbourne Park, Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 0NX 

- H/20/88566    (Pages 57 - 62)  

 Demolition of existing garden wall and erection of 1.8m high fence with gate 
access to the rear. 

  

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 25 January 2021 at 7:00 pm 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news - 

 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 28 September 2020  (7:00 pm – 10:20 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Corben, Gomer, 
House, Jurd, Kyrle, Pretty, Tennent, Trace and Bearder 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

63. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.  
 

64. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

65. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2020 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

66. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
Ageas Bowl/Hilton at the Ageas 
 
The Chair reported that due to the restrictions during the current COVID 
crisis, cricket spectators were not allowed into the Ageas Bowl campus. 
However, the uniqueness of the facilities meant that a bio-secure bubble 
could be created. This enabled the first international cricket match to be 
staged anwhere in the world during the Crisis. The England Men’s summer 
fixtures were shared with only one other ground in the United Kingdom, 
namely Old Trafford in Manchester. 
 
Meeting with the Chief Inspector 
 
The Chair and Vice-Chair had met with Chief Inspector Marcus Cator and 
discussed a range of issues on behalf of residents and local councillors. 
The increase in speeding on local roads was highlighted and an 
investment in speed indicator devices had been recommended along with 
the reintroduction of the community speed watch operation when it was 
safe to do so. The reports about the rise in anti-social behaviour were also 
reviewed. The Chief Inspector was keen to work with the local community 

5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

and reiterated that incidents should continue to be reported and 
communication with the town and parish councils would be improved. 
 
Meeting with representatives of the West Hampshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) had provided a very informative 
presentation to the Members of the Local Area Committee and were 
advised that residents were being asked to complete a survey which will 
assist with decisions about future health provision in the local area. A 
further meeting with the CCG would take place in January to discuss the 
results of the survey and an update would be provided to the Committee 
on 25 January 2021.  
 
Hedge End Market 
 
The Chair reported that the temporary market was now into its second 
month of operation and stalls have been steadily increased with more 
people being attracted into the village centre.  
 

67. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
Wildern Swimming Pool Roof  
 
The Local Area Manager reported that internal works such as retiling the 
poolside were nearly complete. It was expected that the facility would be 
handed back to the Wildern Academy Trust in October. An opening date 
would be discussed with members of the Wildern Community 
Management Committee on 6 October 2020. 
 
Park Sport 
 
The Committee had provided funding for the Summer Park Sport 
programme. The programme was very different due to COVID and the 
activities involved a photo trail, photo competition, geocaching and virtual 
challenges. There was also an interactive story trail at Itchen Valley 
Country Park.  The virtual challenges and photo trail were still available 
until the end of October half term. 
 
Boorley Park 
 
The opening of the community facilitieshad been delayed by COVID 
coupled with snagging issues. The issues were being resolved with the 
developers and a working group meeting had been held to identify 
outstanding actions. An inspection of the playing fields and allotments was 
planned in the next month. Consultation on the new play area by the 
sports pavilion had finished and a contractor would be appointed with the 
intention of completing the play area by Christmas, subject to ground 
conditions.  
 

6



3 
 

Speed Limit Reminders 
 
The Committee had finalised 47 locations for the speed limit reminders 
and speed indication devices. It was proposed that when the device is 
located at Church Hill in a couple of weeks, the display is turned off and 
then turned back on for specified periods of time. The results would be 
ready by the end of October. 
 

68. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 7) setting out recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s 
revenue budget and developer contributions.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee: 
 

(1) Noted the expenditure of £643 for the cricket nets at Turnpike 
Way Recreation Ground from this Committee’s revenue 
budget; 

 
(2) Noted the allocation of the developer’s contribution of 

£70,486.21 for the play area at Hatch Farm; 
 

(3) Noted the expenditure of £540 for the repairs to the Botleigh 
Bridge, Hedge End from the Committee’s revenue budget; 
 

(4) Allocated £200 from its revenue budget for the purchase of 
Neighbourhood Watch signs; 
 

(5) Approved expenditure of £1,066 from its revenue budget for 
tree works at the Copse adjacent to 21 Barbe Baker Avenue, 
West End; and 
 

     (6) Approved expenditure of £1,890 from its revenue budget for a 
speed indicator device. 

 
69. FORWARD FUNDING WOODHOUSE LANE SPORTS FACILITIES 

PROJECT 
 
The Corporate Project Manager presented the report. The Committee 
discussed the report but did not go into exempt business as Appendix 1 
was not discussed.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee approved: 
 

7



4 
 

(1) the allocation of the Boorley Gardens Sports Pitch 
Contribution of £534,434 towards the Woodhouse Lane Sports 
Facilities Project; and 

 
(2) to ask Cabinet to support the forward funding of the 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities project as detailed in this 
report, to enable delivery of the project in line with the delivery 
programme for Deer Park School and in line with the Council’s 
infrastructure first approach. 

 
70. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 

 
A short pre-recorded presentation was given on guidelines that had to be 
taken into account when determining planning applications; in particular 
the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account. This was set 
against the broader policy framework. 
 

71. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO THE REAR OF SOVEREIGN 
DRIVE AND PRECOSA ROAD, HAMPSHIRE - F/20/87625 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development (Agenda item 10) concerning an application for a 
residential development comprising 106 no. dwellings, new access from 
Sovereign Drive, associated landscaping and drainage works following 
demolition of no. 47 Sovereign Drive and Hatts Copse House (net 104 no. 
dwellings). (Ref: F/20/87625). 
 
The Committee were updated as follows: 
 

 In addition to the letters of objection received in relation to the 
application, 1 letter of support had been received from someone 
who was looking for 4-bed affordable/shared ownership house near 
to Southampton. 

 Since the agenda report was written, the Council had published a 
new Housing Land Supply position of 5.6 years. The reduction from 
6.1 years referred to in the agenda report is principally due to 
uncertainty surrounding the possible implications of the COVID 
pandemic on housing supply. 

 
RESOLVED - 
 
That permission be REFUSED for the reasons set out in the agenda, 
subject to the following amendments: 
 

(1) Reason for refusal 3 – amended to add in reference to the 
proposal failing to demonstrate that the internal layout can be 
traversed by all users safely or that all areas can be suitably 
accessed by emergency and refuse collection vehicles. 
Reference to draft policies DM13 and DM14 were added and 
DM32 was deleted; and  

8



5 
 

(2) Note to applicant – reference to paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was replaced with 
paragraph 38.  

 
[NOTES: (A) Councillor Colin Mercer, Chair of Botley Parish Council 
spoke on behalf of the Parish Council and one local resident 
submitted a written statement in objection to the application citing 
concerns over the lack of drainage to the land, dangerous entrance 
to the site, present facilities already overcrowded, increase in street 
parking, loss of green space and traffic; and (B) The agent submitted 
a written statement in support of the application stating that the 
development would boost the economy and provide more housing in 
the Borough. (C) One resident submitted a written statement in 
support of the application stating that more shared ownership 
schemes were required. The Principal Planning Officer explained that 
the shared ownership scheme was not part of the application.] 
 

72. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND OFF BOTLEY ROAD, PHASE II, 
WEST END,  BOTLEY ROAD, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 3JR - F/19/85439 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development (Agenda item 11) concerning an application for a 
residential development of 30 dwellings and associated landscaping 
following demolition of existing dwelling, stables and related structures 
(amended application) (Ref: F/19/85439). 
 
The Committee were updated as follows: 
 

• Amended plans received 
• Viability assessment review initially advises much closer to full 35% 

affordable can be provided, subject to clarification on some points. 
Outcome to be discussed with Members and S106 terms set 
accordingly. 

• Consultee responses – Ecologist now no objection subject to 
conditions to include management of native plants for wildlife in the 
landscape scheme; hedgehog holes in the baseboards of fences 
(conditions 6 and 4v cover this) and for implementation of the 
Biodiversity Management Plan now received (delegated condition 8 
amendment) 

• Paragraph 72 – April 2020 5 year housing supply figure 5.6 years 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That subject to the viability review process confirming 35% 
affordable housing can be provided, permission be GRANTED 
subject to final conditions and S106 agreement (delegated to Head of 
Housing and Development in consultation with Chair, Vice Chair, 
Leader and Ward Members).  If full affordable provision is not 
secured, the application to be referred back to the Committee for 
final decision. 

9



6 
 

 
[NOTES: A written statement from the agent was received in support 
of the application stating that there was a need for housing and that 
the development would boost the local economy.] 
 

73. VARIOUS ROADS TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER (TRO) 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Traffic Engineer (Agenda Item 
12) which detailed representations received in response to proposed 
waiting restrictions on various roads.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) That a Traffic Regulation Order was made to introduce waiting 
restrictions in the following roads: 

 
1. Foord Road; 
2. Cerne Close; 
3. Sovereign Drive; 
5. Tamella Road; 
6. Eden Road; 
7. West End Road; 
8. Upper New Road;  
9. Tanhouse Lane; and 
 
(2) Following local concerns, the order proposed for Chalk Hill was 

amended to revoke the proposal of yellow lines on the west side 
and the short section of yellow lines on the east to remain as 
proposed. 

 
[NOTES: One local resident submitted a pre-recorded video citing 
concerns over the lack of need for double yellow lines, the lines 
would detract from local appearance and they would be an 
unnecessary expense for marginal gain.] 
 

74. CHELTENHAM GARDENS TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER (TRO) 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Traffic Engineer (Agenda Item 
13) which detailed representations received in response to proposed 
waiting restrictions in Cheltenham Gardens. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) That a Traffic Regulation Order be made, the effects of which 
were to introduce waiting restrictions on Cheltenham Gardens 
as advertised on 17 July 2020, with the exception of the layby 
opposite Nos 42 and 44; and  

(2) Following local concerns the parking bays at the rear of 
Cranleigh House remain restricted. 

10



7 
 

 
75. PLANNING APPEALS 

 
The Head of Legal Services reported:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:- 
 

UNIT 3, LANKESTER HOUSE, 1 FREEGROUNDS ROAD, HEDGE 
END, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 0HG 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the variation of condition 3 of prior notification J/17/80081 to 
extend opening hours. (X/19/86760) 
 
CROFT FARM, WINCHESTER ROAD, SOUTHAMPTON, SO32 
2BX 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the erection of detached bungalow. (F/19/86814) 
 
WILD GROUNDS, BROOK LANE, BOTLEY, SOUTHAMPTON, 
SO30 2ER 
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the Construction of 2no. five-bedroom dwellings and 
repositioning of access following demolition of the existing "Wild 
Grounds" dwelling and associated agricultural barns and 
repositioning of existing access. (F/20/87263) 
 
73 HOPE ROAD, WEST END, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 3GE 
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for a loft conversion to include raising of roof with front dormer, first 
floor rear extension, single storey front extension and alterations to 
fenestration. (H/19/87071) 

 
(b) that the following appeals had been dismissed:- 
 

RIVER COTTAGE, 2 HAMBLEWOOD, BOTLEY, SO30 2GX 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the conversion, extension and alteration of the existing two 
storey side extension and single storey garage to form self-
contained 1-bedroom dwelling with rationalisation of vehicle parking 
and landscaping. (F/19/85906) 
 
73 HOPE ROAD, WEST END, SO30 3GE 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for a single-storey front extension, raising ridge height of property 
and 1 no. front dormer window. (H/19/87071) 

11



8 
 

 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
M6623 
 

12



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Monday, 2 November 2020  

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Report of the Local Area Manager  

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that this Committee: -   
 
(1) Approves expenditure of up to £6,500 from its revenue and reserves budgets for the 

outdoor covered seating at Itchen Valley Country Park; 

(2) Approves the freezing of fees and charges for Itchen Valley Country Park for 2021; 

(3) Allocates the developers contributions of £7,039.18 to Hedge End Town Council for 
vehicular access works at St. John’s Recreation Ground; 

(4) Allocates the developer contribution of up to £5,000 to Wildern Academy Trust for 
the upgrade of ancillary rooms at Wildern Leisure Centre;  

(5) Approves expenditure of £680 from its revenue budget for 2 litter bins at Boorley 
Green;  

(6) Approves expenditure of up to £2,000 for improved signage for cycling in Wildern 
Lane; AND 

(7) Allocates the developer contribution of £1,255 to commission a study into the 
flooding issues at Telegraph Woods, West End. 

 

Summary 
 
This report identifies funding for provision to meet local need and to enhance the local 
area. 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis. In accordance 
with the Council’s budget strategy, fees and charges levied by the Council are reviewed 
with the intention of increasing the yield by 2% 
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 151 of the, Local Government Act 1972 

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority’s general power of 
competence, including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or 
present in its area 

13

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The proposals will help to achieve some of the key objectives in the Corporate 
Plan. The covered seating at Itchen Valley Park will attract visitors to this 
facility thereby enabling healthier lifestyles and well – being. The upgrade of 
the Wildern Pool ancillary rooms, new signage for cycling on Wildern Lane 
and the improvements to vehicular access to St. John’s Recreation Ground 
contribute to this corporate aim and that of creating and maintain an excellent 
environment. Additional litter bins at Boorley Green will also help to create an 
excellent environment and the study at Telegraph Woods will identify actions 
to resolve environmental issues. These projects align with Local First which 
focuses on local need and local priorities. The proposed fees and charges are 
in line with the projected yield as stipulated by corporate policy.  

Itchen Valley Country Park – outside covered seating 

2. The Café takeaway service has been successfully operating out of Highwood 
Barn since June. In order to be COVID compliant, a one-way queuing system 
is in operation through the ground floor of the Barn. This means that there is 
currently no seated service. 

3. With the onset of worsening weather, it has been proposed that covered 
bench seating is purchased and placed in the courtyard outside the Barn. This 
will improve the facilities and increase the chances of visitors staying longer at 
the Park. 

4. Exact proposals are being drawn up but a project limit of £6,500 has been set 
which can be funded from the Committee’s revenue and reserves budgets. 
Councillors are therefore requested to approve this expenditure. 

Itchen Valley Fees and Charges 

5. The Council agrees an annual strategy regarding fees and charges. In 
 2021/22 the required yield is 2%. 

6. This Committee has the authority to set the fees and charges at Itchen Valley 
Country Park (IVCP).  

7. Overall, performance has been lower than planned in the first quarter of 
2020/21 however visitor numbers have now increased to target or above and 
as such the parking income is set to reach its planned yield. Although parking 
fees were planned to rise at IVCP in April this year, the rise did not occur until 
the end of July. With a shorter gap between annual rises than normal and the 
goodwill the park received by remaining open during the peak of lockdown, a 
continuation of current charges would build on this positive perception and still 
enable the Park to reach its planned parking income target. 

8. Due to Government restriction on public gatherings, the Kingfisher room and 
BBQ areas will have both been closed to public bookings for the duration of 
2020/21. The Kingfisher room represents a small income stream for the site 
and is mainly focused on community group and family use. With the current 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

restrictions on public gatherings likely to be in place for the foreseeable future, 
fees for these resources should remain at current levels to support the current 
financial strains on these groups and better reflect the lower capacity of the 
provision. 

9. Bridle route charges were reduced in 2020/21 to reflect the path moving to a 
shared use. Significant signage and new access points linking the bridle route 
with High Hill Field will open this resource up to the wider public. In addition, 
the route will become part of a regular Saturday morning Parkrun when it is 
able to recommence. As such bridle route charges should also be frozen.  

10. It is recognised that many visitors will have less disposable income during the 
coming year and that an accessible country park is vital for people’s health 
and well-being. 

11. Councillors are asked to approve the freezing of the following fees and 
charges for 2021. 

ITCHEN VALLEY COUNTRY PARK   

Barbeque Charges 1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Up to 60 people Monday – Thursday 48.00 48.00 

Up to 60 people Friday – Sunday 64.00 64.00 

Over 60 people Monday – Thursday 77.00 77.00 

Over 60 people Friday – Sunday 90.00 90.00 

School Parties 1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Classroom hire 58.00 58.00 

Visit / Activity – Led by EBC Staff – 
per child 

 

 

 

 

5.60 5.60 

General Guided Walks (Minimum 
Charge) 

1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Adults 4.00 4.00 

Concessions 3.00 3.00 

Kingfisher Room   1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Room hire per hour (minimum charge 
2 hours) 

26.00 26.00 

Room hire for parties (up to 5 hours) 58.00 58.00 

Hire of High Hill Field (Minimum 
Charge) 

1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Charitable organisations   

- Up to 1000 people 372.00 372.00 

- Over 1000 people  680.00 680.00 

Non – Charitable Organisations   

- Up to 1000 people 680.00 680.00 

- Over 1000 people 1630.00 1630.00 

Car Parking 1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Up to One Hour 1.50 1.50 

Up to Two Hours 2.80 2.80 

Up to Three Hours  4.00 4.00 

Four hours + 4.60 4.60 

Other Parking Charges 1 April 20 

£ 

2021 

£ 

Coaches 22.00 22.00 

Orange/Blue Badges Free Free 

Motorcycles Free Free 

Annual Permits 49.00 49.00 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

6 Monthly Permits 27.00 27.00 

Quarterly Permits 17.00 17.00 

 

St. John’s Recreation Ground, Hedge End 

12. The Hedge End Town Clerk has outlined proposals to change the access to 
St. John’s Recreation Ground to prevent unauthorised access. The proposals 
include a barrier, new fencing and signage. Quotes have been received and a 
request has been made for grant funding in the region of £7,000. 

13. It is recommended that the following developers’ contributions are allocated: - 

OSF/10/68327First Wessex, The Haven, Heath House Lane, 
Hedge End Receipt Date:04/05/2011 £6,554.28 

  OSF/09/65103Drew Smith Ltd, Land r/o 28 Upper St Helens 
Road, Hedge End Receipt Date:12/02/2010 £231.30 

OSF/10/67127Mr Bailey & Mrs Wincomb r/o 28 Upper St 
Helens Road, Hedge End Receipt Date:27/08/2010 £9.31 

OSF/10/68028Parkdale Homes Ltd, Land r/o 25 Yardley 
Road, Hedge End Receipt Date:11/07/2013 £244.29 

  
 

 

 Wildern Leisure Centre 

14. The swimming pool roof project has now been handed back to the Wildern 
Academy Trust. The Trust has refurbished the pool changing rooms but there 
are a few adjacent ancillary rooms which now look tired when viewed against 
the newly refurbished facilities. 

15. The Executive Headteacher has therefore requested grant funding for these 
areas. The Project Manager has estimated that around £5,000 would be 
sufficient to upgrade the flooring, redecorate and replace the ironmongery. 

16. It is therefore recommended that the following developer contribution is 
allocated: - 

DCO/13/73700Foreman Homes, land off St Johns Road & 
Foord Road, Dodwell Lane, Hedge End Receipt 
Date:11/01/2016 – PART £5,000 

  
 

 

  

Boorley Green 

17. A resident has requested two litter bins from Winchester Street, opposite the 
Botley Park Hotel to Hedge End Railway Station. He has noted that there has 

17



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

been an increase in the number of dog walkers but also unfortunately this has 
led to an increase in discarded litter/bags in hedges and ditches. It is therefore 
recommended that £680 is allocated from the Committee’s revenue budget for 
two dual component litter bins. 

18. The same resident has highlighted the need to restrict access on the new 
cycle paths and playing fields once the fencing is removed. This will be 
reviewed with Direct Services and the Developers’ Consortium. 

Cycling on Wildern Lane, Hedge End 

19. In order to promote safer cycling in Wildern Lane especially by pupils of 
Wildern School, Hampshire County Council has asked the Committee whether 
there are any funds to improve signage in the locality. 

20. There are also concerns around social distancing and the volumes of pupils 
and parents who are congregating in Wildern Lane. The aim of the signage is 
to heighten awareness of cyclists. 

21. Hampshire County Council staff will be visiting the site to advise on exact 
signage improvements. In the interim, the Council’s School Travel Planner 
has stated that these improvements should cost no more than £2,000. 

22. Councillors are asked to approve this funding from the Committee’s revenue 
budget.  

Telegraph Woods  

23. This Committee has devolved responsibility for the countryside site known as 
Telegraph Woods in West End. 

24. The Council’s Countryside Manager has advised that there has been flooding 
within this site along the Ageas Bowl boundary and that trees are dying as the 
large pond is unable to drain away. 

25. Tree safety works near the permissive paths are being carried out at the time 
of writing. 

26. An investigation into the flooding issue is also urgently required and a 
specialist contractor, familiar with the site, has been recommended by the 
Countryside Manager. 

27. The cost of this initial investigation is £1,255 and it is recommended that the 
following developer’s contribution is allocated by the Committee as follows: - 

DC19545/9Queens College Oxford Receipt Date:01/01/2000 - PART £1,255 

 

Financial Implications 

28. The identified projects can be afforded either from the Committee’s revenue or 
capital budgets. 

18



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

29. Several of the projects address potential reputational issues for the Council 
and its partners.  

30. If the Committee does not comply with the corporate fees and charges policy 
and the income target is not achieved then in any “normal” year it will be liable 
for any shortfall. The Country Parks Manager is currently projecting that the 
freezing of fees and charges at Itchen Valley Country Park will not affect the 
target yield of 2% and that reputationally this is also the right decision. The 
covered seating project will also assist with achieving this financial target. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

31. The Equality Act is not relevant for most decisions in this report because they 
do not have any further equality and diversity implications, or they are a 
response to an outside body’s request for funding and it is therefore their duty 
to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment if required. 

32. At the time of writing, the exact details of the covered seating at Itchen Valley 
are not known. However the Country Park Manager will carry out an Equality 
Impact Assessment to ensure that any implications are considered. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

33. The proposals contained in the report should not lead to an increase in 
Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology or the environment. In fact, the 
improvements to signage in Wildern Lane will hopefully encourage more 
people to cycle. The Itchen Valley bench seating will be located in the existing 
courtyard and will not impact on the natural environment. The investigative 
study at Telegraph Woods will lead to solutions that protect the environment. 
Where practical, local contractors will be commissioned. 

Conclusion 

34. The recommendations contained within this report will enable projects to be 
carried out within the local area which will enhance provision and provide 
benefit to the local community. The fees and charges are in line with the 
Council’s policy. 

JULIA BIRT 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 09 November 2020 
Contact Officer: Julia Birt  
Tel No: 023 8068 8437 
e-mail: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

19



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

20



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday 2 
November 2020. 
 
Application Number: F/19/85178 
Case Officer: Liz Harrison 
Received Date: 12 March 2019 
Site Address: Land to the south of Maddoxford Lane and west of Westfield, 

Boorley Green, Botley, SO32 2DB 
Applicant: Bloor Homes 
Proposal: Full planning application for the construction of 92 dwellings; 

the creation of new vehicular access with footways from 
Maddoxford Lane; provision of informal and formal open 
space, together with associated highways, landscape, and 
earth works and level changes, foul and surface water 
drainage facilities, utilities provision and other associated 
and necessary infrastructure 

Recommendation: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
  
For the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposed development for which there is no overriding need, would result 

in a visually intrusive development that would have an unacceptably 
urbanising impact on the countryside and surrounding area.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Saved Policies 1.CO and 59.BE of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2001-2011; Draft Policies S1, S7 and DM1 of the 
submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036; and the provisions of the 
NPPF. 
 

2. The proposed development due to its layout, form, design, scale and 
appearance would result in an inappropriate and poor quality development 
that in instances fails to achieve good quality architectural design, sufficient 
interest in the streetscene; appropriate levels of natural surveillance and 
sufficient landscape planting or boundary treatments within the development.  
In addition the proposals fail to meet the Council’s standards with regards to 
separation distances; garden sizes for dwellings and private amenity spaces 
for flats; car and cycle parking for all units.  The proposal is therefore contrary 
to Saved Policies 59.BE and 104.T of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2001-2011; Draft Policies DM1 and DM14 of the submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2016-2036; Eastleigh Borough Council’s Quality Places 
and Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Documents; and 
the provisions of the NPPF. 
 

3. Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the lawful use 
for the storage of motor vehicles and motor vehicle body parts and associated 
scrap metal at Holly Tree Farm, Maddoxford Lane, Boorley Green would not 
have an adverse impact on the residential amenities of the future occupiers.  
As such the proposal is contrary to Saved Policy 30.ES of the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011, Draft Policy DM8 of the submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036; and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 

21

Agenda Item 9



4. The application fails to secure provision for developer contributions for the on 
and off-site provision of facilities and infrastructure (including affordable 
housing,  primary and secondary education, the Solent Disturbance Mitigation 
Project, nitrogen deposition mitigation, sustainable transport measures, 
community and health infrastructure, on-site and off-site public open space 
and play area provision, public art) made necessary by the development or to 
mitigate against any increased need or pressure on existing facilities.  As 
such the application is contrary to Saved Policies 25.NC, 74.H, 101.T, 
147.OS, 165.TA, 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-
2011; Draft Policies DM1, DM13, DM30, DM35 and DM40 of the submitted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036;  Eastleigh Borough Council's 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document and Public Art 
Strategy; and the provisions of the NPPF.  

 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 28 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough council take a positive approach to the 
handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a 
positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely 
manner. 

 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Report: 

 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a Major 

development that is contrary to the Development Plan and in which there is 
significant interest. 

 
Relevant Planning History 
 
2. The relevant history in relation to this site is as follows: 

 

 Q/15/76821 – EIA Screening opinion for erection of up to 200 
residential units & associated open space & infrastructure – SoS 
Screening Direction issued 17.11.15 – Proposed development is not 
EIA development (this is for a larger site that included this site and 
additional land to the west). 
 

 The Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent 
Order 2020 – issued 7.10.20 by Secretary of State for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (a small section of the route runs 
through the site) 

 
The site and its surroundings 
 
3. The 4.12ha site is located to the south of Maddoxford Lane, to the west of the 

property known as Westfield and to the east of 2 sites that have recently 
gained planning permission (Land at Crows Nest Land (O/16/78389 and 
RM/18/83875) and Land South of Maddoxford Lane O/16/79600)).  The site is 
higher than Maddoxford Lane and generally slopes up away from the road 

22



with the south western part of the site being the highest part of the site, 
approximately 5-7m higher than Maddoxford Lane. 
 

4. To the west of the site is a hedgerow that runs alongside a track that provides 
access to a small utilities building that sits to the south west of the site, the 
boundary of which is demarcated by a barbed wire fence.  There is a mature 
tree belt and vegetation on the remainder of the southern boundary, with a 
hedgerow and further trees on the eastern boundary.  To the north, the 
boundary with Maddoxford Lane is demarcated by roadside hedgerow.  
Another significant tree line runs north-south through the middle of the site, 
through which the road linking the western and eastern parts of the site will 
cut through. 
 

5. The Boorley Park development is located to the north, with the eastern edge 
of that development being in line with the tree line that runs north-south 
through the middle of this application site.   
 

6. Existing overhead power lines cross the very north-western corner of the site, 
before going underground on the northern side of Maddoxford Lane.  A gas 
pipeline runs in a generally north-south direction through the site, 
approximately 60-80m in from the western boundary.  In addition between the 
western boundary and the central tree line the easement for the proposed 
Southampton to London pipeline, for which a Development Consent Order 
was granted on 7.10.20, runs parallel with Maddoxford Lane, approximately 
30m in from the northern boundary. 
 

Description of application  
 
7. The application proposes the development of 92 dwellings comprising a mix 

of 2 and 2 ½ storey, detached, semi-detached, terraced, maisonette and 
flatted 1-4 bed properties, with an overall gross density of 22.3 dph on the site 
area of 4.12ha, or 34.5dph if calculated using solely the developable area and 
road network.   
 

8. 35% of the units (32 units) are proposed as affordable housing with the mix as 
follows: 
 

 2 x 1-bed flats (all affordable) 

 2 x 2-bed maisonettes (all affordable) 

 6 x 2-bed flats (all affordable) 

 21 x 2-bed houses (11 open market, 10 affordable) 

 46 x 3-bed houses (35 open market, 11 affordable) 

 15 x 4-bed houses (14 open market, 1 affordable) 
 

9. Allocated car parking is provided for all properties, in a mix of garages, private 
driveways and parking courts. 
  

10. The site would be served by one vehicular access point in the form of a T-
junction with Maddoxford Lane.  Public open space is proposed on the 
western boundary of the site and around the tree belt in the centre of the site.  

23



An attenuation pond and foul water pumping station are both located in the 
north-eastern corner, adjacent to Maddoxford Lane. 
 

11. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 
assessments, some of which have been amended during the consideration of 
the application: 

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Ecological Surveys – Preliminary Survey and individual species surveys  

 Housing Needs Assessment 

 Landscape and Visual Appraisal 

 Hedgerow Regulations Assessment 

 Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Preliminary Arboricultural Method 
Statement 

 Transport Assessment 

 Ground Investigation Report and Proposed Sampling Strategy 

 Environmental Noise Impact Assessment 

 Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment 

 Information for Habitat Regulations Assessment inc. nitrogen budget 

 Sustainability Statement 

 Construction Environment Management Plan 

 Bird Hazard Management Plan 

 Daylighting report 

 Flood Risk Assessment inc. drainage strategy  
 

12. The application does not need to be supported by an Environmental 
Statement as it does not exceed the thresholds in section 10b) of Schedule 2 
of the Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 as the application is for less than 150 dwellings and the site 
area is less than 5ha in size. 
 

13. Screening has been undertaken to establish whether a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) is required.  It is considered that due to the type and 
location of development the proposal would, without mitigation, have a likely 
significant effect on the Solent Maritime SAC, Solent and Southampton Water 
SPA and Ramsar site.  As such an Appropriate Assessment is required.  With 
appropriate mitigation measures it would be possible to ensure that there is 
no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated sites identified.  Natural 
England’s comments on the proposed mitigation are awaited. 
 

Consultation Responses (summarised) 
 
14. Policy Team –  

Saved and emerging local plan policies  
The entire site is safeguarded as countryside for the purposes of the saved 
policies of the adopted local plan.  It is stated in saved policy 1.CO that 
planning permission will not be granted for development outside the urban 
edge unless one of the included criteria is met.  It is clear that the intentions of 

24



the policy are to refuse inappropriate development in such locations.  The 
western part of the site is a proposed allocation within the submitted local plan 
under proposed policy BO1 for the development of approximately 30 
dwellings.  The principle of residential development on the western part of the 
site as per proposed policy BO1 is therefore considered to be acceptable in 
accordance with this emerging policy which along with other proposed 
housing allocations in the submitted Local Plan, demonstrates the Council’s 
positive plan-led strategy towards the provision of much needed new housing 
in the Borough.  Whilst development on the western part of the site covered 
by proposed policy BO1 is considered to be acceptable in principle, the 
submitted local plan continues to protect the eastern part of the site as 
countryside.  Proposed strategic policy S7, New development in the 
countryside makes clear that there is a presumption against new development 
in the countryside, subject to the policies of the submitted local plan.  
Therefore clear from both saved policy 1.CO and proposed strategic policy S7 
that residential development would not be appropriate on the eastern part of 
the site. 
 

15. Housing Supply 
In the broader context of housing supply matters, the Council is able to 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply (5YHLS).  The latest publicly 
available position is 5.6 years as of April 2020. Therefore, there is not 
considered to be a need to make additional provision for housing on the 
eastern part of the site.  It is also clear from the inspector’s initial post hearing 
advice that the Council has not been required to identify additional housing 
allocations in the Plan following the recommended deletion of the Strategic 
Growth Option (SGO). 
 

16. Affordable Housing 
It is noted that the developer is proposing a total of 35% affordable housing 
with the proposal.  Whilst this is in accordance with emerging policy DM30, 
the harm that would be caused by allowing development on the eastern part 
of the site would not be outweighed by these benefits. 
 

17. Concluding comments 
Whilst the development of the site within the boundary of the proposed policy 
BO1 allocation is considered to be acceptable in principle, the Planning Policy 
team objects to the proposal due to the proposed development of the eastern 
part of the site for the reasons stated above whereby there are no material 
planning considerations which outweigh and therefore justify the acceptability 
of this proposed provision. 
 

18. Landscape Officer – Objection.   
 

19. Landscape proposals – detailed comments in relation to lack of benches in 
public open space, use of inappropriate hard landscaping, lack of play area on 
site, relocation of garden trees to public areas, need for public art contribution, 
design of SuDS feature, development within the rooting area of existing hedge 
and insufficient additional planting on southern boundary to block views of 
new houses. 

25



 
20. Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) - it is considered that there is 

insufficient new planting along the boundary with Maddoxford Lane and 
therefore the development would have a greater impact than the LVIA 
suggests.  In addition a length of around 13m of hedge is at serious risk of 
being killed or severely damaged by the construction of the footpath to the 
front door of unit 62 being located within its rooting area. A further section is at 
risk due to the close proximity of the garage and hard surfaces to unit 60.  
 

21. Letter from agent 30.6.20 - do not agree with the suggestion that the 
development ‘is reflective of the development line associated with the Boorley 
Park development, to the north’. The eastern part of the site represents a 
clear and unwarranted extension of the new building line.  Do not agree with 
the suggestion that ‘the additional land within the application is separated 
from the River Hamble corridor by a series of buildings, whilst the Boorley 
Park development is not; hence, for this current application, a sounder 
relationship in visual and biodiversity terms is certain.’ The sum total of 
buildings between the east side the Boorley Park development and the River 
Hamble is far greater than those to the south of Maddoxford Lane between 
this site and the river, especially when taking into account the buildings 
accessed off Netherhill Lane.  Do not accept the suggestion that the 
resistance to development of the additional land in the local plan process is 
‘an inconsistent approach with reference to Boorley Park’. 
 

22. Conclusion - at present the buildings associated with Maddoxford Farm and 
Westbrook appear as isolated farmsteads or isolated houses. The effect of 
the development will be to aggregate these into the effective settlement area 
as Westfield is located immediately to the east of the site and Maddoxford 
Farm is opposite that. This would be avoided if the eastern field of this 
development was removed from the development. The inclusion of this land is 
therefore unacceptable.  Any agreement with the effect categorisation in the 
revised LVIA does not pre-suppose that the effect is acceptable. No 
landscape or visual impact resulting from development of unallocated land, is 
acceptable. 
   

23. Tree Team – No objection subject to conditions.  Following submission of an 
updated AIA, I am more comfortable with the shading, especially along the 
south of the site.  The gardens have been realigned and, while still not 
perfect, this should mean the trees are not as dominant on the majority of the 
gardens.  In addition, the tree protective fencing appears more workable 
within the update Tree Protection Plan. 
 

24. Design Officer – Original submission - The proposed layout is based on 
established urban design principles, utilising key buildings for interest and 
legibility; visually and directionally. A formal layout has been achieved through 
the use of broadly linear perimeter blocks.  There are five courtyards which 
hold a significant amount of parking spaces that suggests the number of units 
proposed on site is too high. In particular the south west and eastern most 
courtyards are of concern. Lowering the density will free up space for soft 
landscaping measures; enhancing the overall appearance.  These areas do 

26



perhaps consider their utilitarian inspiration a little too literally for the rural 
location the site is located within.  Detailed comments on particular parts of 
the layout provided. 
 

25. Amended plans – Amendments have brought minor improvements to parts of 
the scheme but have not addressed the principal issue of excessive density 
and the resulting urbanising development of what is a sensitive countryside 
edge site, to the detriment of the character and visual amenity of the site and 
surrounding area. 
 

26. Ecology Officer – Amended plans - The landscaping now shows a greater 
diversity of structure with scalloped edging, more varied vegetation and more 
trees and shrubs added as requested by the previous ecology response. 
Green infrastructure around the boundaries has been improved and widened 
which provides better wildlife corridors.  The native hedge mix shrubs, pond 
edge mix, wildflower meadow mix EM3 and seasonal wetlands mix EM8 are 
appropriate, however new tree and shrub plantings around the private 
dwellings should be a diverse range of native species rather than non-native 
species whenever possible to provide better year-round nectar sources for 
pollinators. 
 

27. The lighting plan needs to be amended to show that lux levels of no more 
than 1 lux will shine on potential wildlife habitat included bird and bat boxes.  
The areas around the attenuation pond and boundary vegetation must be 
dark corridors. 
 

28. The strategy for the SuDS plan needs more clarification re: overland flows, 
geocellular storage, proposed use of swales and surface water sewer pipes 
and the design for the area around the attenuation pond.  Appendices A, B 
and C of the CEMP are blank and need to be provided. 
 

29. A Biodiversity Mitigation, Management and Enhancement Plan would need to 
be conditioned should permission be granted. 
 

30. Further amended plans related to drainage, landscape and lighting – 
comments awaited 
 

31. Housing Officer – The proposed mix is acceptable and it has been 
acknowledged that all homes will need to meet Lifetime Homes Standards.  1 
x 2-bed ground floor flat is designed specifically for a wheelchair user as 
required. 
  

32. Environmental Health – Transportation Noise - Satisfied with site 
characterisation in respect of traffic noise and agree with conclusions that this 
is a low risk site.  Accordingly there is a low risk of adverse impact that can be 
mitigated with good acoustic design.  Should permission be granted 
conditions should be attached re: alternative ventilation.   
 

33. Industrial/Commercial Noise – Not satisfied that the risks in relation to the 
neighbouring industrial/commercial land use have been satisfactorily 

27



characterised.  The current activity is small scale and the occupier claims 
activities are limited to bringing in car parts (in particular bumpers, storing and 
selling them) and it is claimed that no processing (e.g. breaking up) occurs on 
site.  Overall the risk posed to amenity of future occupants by current activities 
are probably low and acceptable. 
 

34. The appeal in 2001 against an enforcement notice to stop the use of the 
neighbouring site for the storage of motor vehicles, parts and scrap metal 
associated with such items was successful due to evidence demonstrating it 
had continued for 10 years.  I assume the described uses may lawfully 
continue but only within the identified area on the enforcement notice.  I infer 
that car repairs, re-spraying, processing activities (e.g. breaking up of cars) 
and storage of other material would not be lawful.  If this is correct then it is 
helpful in reducing the concerns of potential risk to amenity.  However a large 
scale storage activity of the type described could cause an impact upon 
amenity of the residential site if this was of significant scale, involved 
significant movement of car scrap material involving metal on metal impact 
noise and associated use of mobile plant. 
 

35. It seems clear (from aerial photos, etc.) a larger area has been used for 
storage in the past.  It is not known what the planning position would be 
should such an extension occur in the future.  In respect of the likely impact of 
noise, the key considerations would be quantum of movement and nature and 
method used e.g. hand loading car bumpers would likely be insignificant in 
impact.  Loading or unloading car panels by tipping or use of grab lorries or 
tipper lorries would likely be significant especially if involving metal on metal 
noise, mobile plant noise and reversing bleepers.  Operational times would 
also be relevant. 
 

36. This raises the question of whether the current development as ‘the agent of 
change’ should incorporate mitigation to address the potential future risks if 
these are considered to be a realistic threat, based upon the assessment of 
possible future lawful use of the site. 
 

37. Should the development proceed, the Council might be able to take statutory 
nuisance action later if noise nuisance was established. Care is needed as 
considerations of nuisance must take account of both the character of the 
location considering lawful use and also consideration of whether best 
practicable means is being taken by the operator to reduce noise. As such, 
this would probably mean that in practice in such a scenario, that the amenity 
of occupants would most likely be necessarily compromised even if such 
action were possible. 
 

38. Best solution would be to secure residential re-development of the 
commercial site or avoid the close relationship between the proposed housing 
development and the commercial activity. Mitigation in the form of site 
boundary barriers and perhaps consideration of residential layout in the south 
east corner might provide a second opportunity for reducing risk of future 
impact. These measures might be unnecessary if the Council can be satisfied 
that planning controls could be effective at preventing the establishment of 

28



objectionable processes and/or intensification of the current activities 
occurring on site. 
 

39. Contaminated Land – No objection subject to conditions. 
 

40. Air Quality – Given the proposed traffic generation levels an air quality 
assessment is not needed. 
 

41. Direct Services – No objection.  Due to the location and number of dwellings 
do not foresee any issues for Streetscene.  Would be willing to maintain open 
space and SuDS if requested. 
 

42. Health & Wellbeing – No response. 
 

43. HCC Highways – No objection in principle subject to receipt and approval of 
the additional information in relation to clarification re: foot/cycleway provision 
to the east, a footway link within the site to the western boundary.   

 
44. EBC Direct Services should confirm bin collection points are suitable.  In 

addition the quantum has not been checked as this is an EBC function.  It 
should be confirmed to HCC if the standards are not met as there could 
onwards be obstructive (visual and physical) parking as a result.   
 

45. Amended plans sought to respond to concern about the need for step out 
strips for parking spaces adjacent to walls, fences, landscaping, etc., but 
some spaces remain located adjacent to landscaping areas without additional 
step out strips.  Whilst this would not result in a highways objection the step 
out strips would be a benefit to users. 
 

46. Should permission be granted conditions re: construction site management 
plan, footway provision and visibility are required and funding for a TRO 
should be required. 
 

47. HCC Archaeologist – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
48. HCC Flood and Water Team – No objection. 

 
49. HCC Minerals and Waste Team – No objection subject to conditions.  

 
50. HCC Childrens Services – No objection subjection to financial contributions 

towards primary and secondary school provision being secured. 
 

51. Natural England – Upper Hamble Estuary and Woods SSSI and Solent 
Maritime SAC - Issue – Water quality Further information required.  The 
development site is in close proximity to Ford Lake river to the east which is a 
tributary of River Hamble which is designated as Upper Hamble Estuary and 
Woods SSSI and Solent Maritime SAC downstream. It should be noted that 
currently many of the European Sites in the Solent area are failing their 
conservation objectives on water quality due to nitrogen enrichment, including 
the SPA and SAC sites listed above. It is currently uncertain how planned 

29



development growth in the Solent area will avoid impacting on-site integrity 
and what mitigation will be required to achieve this.  Advise that a nutrient 
budget is calculated for this development.  The proposals will need to achieve 
nutrient neutrality in order for your authority to rule out adverse impacts to the 
Solent European Sites and SSSI. 
 

52. Surface Water Drainage – As the discharge from the attenuation basin enters 
Ford Lake river which provides a direct pathway to the Upper Hamble and 
Estuary and Woods SSSI and Solent Maritime SAC, it is advised that further 
consideration is given to potential impacts on the SAC via poor water quality.  
Further details and/or clarification should be provided on the specific 
measures incorporated to remove oils and other pollutants such as heavy 
metals prior to discharge into the watercourse.  It may be deemed that 
additional measures should be incorporated in line with the precautionary 
principle when undertaking the Habitat Regulations Assessment.  Further 
features that may be incorporated could include the provision of rainwater 
harvesting (to reduce run-off volume), oil interceptors and further opportunity 
for particulate settlement.  Details of the proposed SuDS addressing the 
above impacts should be submitted to and approved in writing by Eastleigh 
Borough Council’s ecology specialist and secured by condition. 
 

53. Construction Environmental Management Plan – this should identify the steps 
and procedures that will be implemented to avoid or mitigate constructional 
impacts on species and habitats; be approved by the Council’s Ecologist; and 
be secured via condition. 

 
54. Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area (SPA) – Recreational 

Disturbance – No objection subject to the appropriate mitigation financial 
contribution being secured through the agreed strategic solution. 
 

55. Water Resources – Strongly recommend that all new developments adopt the 
higher standard water efficiency under Building Regulations (110l/head/day 
inc. external water use). 
 

56. Local Sites - The application site is in close proximity to several sites of 
importance to nature conservation (SINCs) Maddoxford Farm Meadows 
SINC, Newhouse Farm Woodland & Swamp SINC, Marshy Grasssland, 
Botley SINC, Holly Tree Farm Meadow SINC and Holly Tree Farm Wood 
SINC.  Recommend you consider the impacts on any local wildlife or 
geodiversity sites in line with paragraphs 170 and 174 of the NPPF and any 
relevant development plan policy.  There may also be opportunities to 
enhance local sites and improve their connectivity. 
 

57. Protected Species and Biodiversity Net Gain – Recommend a Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Plan is agreed and any identified measures 
secured and implemented with any planning approval. 
 

58. Southern Water – It is possible for the applicant to discharge foul sewerage 
flows only to public sewerage manhole SU49147301 through pumped 
connection. The principles of the proposed foul sewerage drainage are 

30



therefore acceptable to Southern Water in principle. The onsite pumping 
station as well as conveying rising main shall be laid by the applicant or 
alternatively may be requisitioned to be laid by Southern Water under Section 
98 of the Water Industry Act application process. The public foul sewerage 
network in the vicinity of the site does not have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the proposed flows to be discharged in the direct proximity of 
the site and there is an increased risk of flooding unless any required network 
reinforcement is provided. 
 

59. Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water should 
this be requested by the developer. Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are 
not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the applicant will need to ensure that 
arrangements exist for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS facilities. 
 

60. No habitable rooms should be located within 15m of pumping station and no 
soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining 
or conveying features should be located within 5m of a public sewer. 
 

61. Following initial investigations, Southern Water can provide a water supply to 
the site. Southern Water requires a formal application for connection and on-
site mains to be made by the applicant or developer.  Conditions re: details of 
foul drainage and SuDS surface water drainage required if permission is 
granted. 
 

62. NHS West Hants CCG – Financial contributions towards enhanced local 
health service sought. 

 
63. Southampton Airport – No aerodrome safeguarding objection subject to 

conditions re: submission of bird hazard management plan. 
 

64. Esso Petroleum – No objection provided the Special Requirements for Safe 
Working booklet and covenants in the Deed of Grant are adhered to. 
 

65. Southampton to London pipeline (SLP) – No objection subject to condition 
re: detailed plans of relationship between the development and the SLP 
 

66. Southern Gas – No response. 
 

67. Scottish & Southern Energy – No response.  
 

68. Botley Parish Council – Object - The Parish Council does not support this 
application, considering that it constitutes excessive development within the 
countryside and a deviation from the emerging EBC Local Plan 2011-2036.  
Objection on the grounds of: 

 Contrary to the adopted and emerging local plans and neighbourhood 
local plan. 

 Majority of the site is not within BO1, which was allocated for 30 
dwellings 

31



 No information re: foul drainage connection and no indication as to how 
long sewage will be tankered for.  Full details of foul drainage including 
tanker movement and routes should be conditioned. 

 Housing styles and 2 ½ storey properties are not representative of 
existing housing in Boorley Green.  

 Increased pressure on local facilities and infrastructure. 

 Affordable housing will fail to meet NPPF standards 

 Inappropriate density for location and higher than Boorley Park to the 
north. 

 Number of incorrect statements and conclusions in Transport 
Assessment and the development fails to meet the requirements of the 
local transport plan. 

 The development will increase traffic on unsuitable local roads, 
residents will be car-dependant and walking and cycling on  

 Maddoxford Lane will be unpleasant and unsafe. 

 Concern re: conflict with Southampton to London pipeline. 

 HCC Minerals and Waste Strategy identifies deposits of sharp sand 
and gravel under the site but there is no mention of HCC’s strategy this 
in the application. 

 No provision for on-site play equipment, only a kickabout space. 

 Site would benefit from all-weather paths through the green space to 
provide opportunities for off-road exercise. 

 Site is a semi-rural location and lies in gap between Curdridge and 
Boorley Green and will reduce clear and distinctive identity of the 2 
communities.  Requested that land remain in gap at local plan 
examination. 

 
69. Botley Parish Action Group – Strongly object on the following grounds: 

 Site never included in as a development possibility in the previous 
Strategic Land Availability Assessments. 

 30 dwellings on western half proposed under BO1 is already an 
unnecessary and inappropriate extension of the built area and should 
not be increased beyond the specified 30. 

 Site not included in Botley neighbourhood plan. 

 Will add to urbanisation of Botley/Boorley Green which is already 
unsustainable. 

 No reason to extend east beyond Boorley Park boundary on otherside 
of Maddoxford Lane 

 EBC can demonstrate 5 year housing land supply. 

 Inadequate local facilities and infrastructure e.g. medical services and 
increase in traffic on unsuitable roads. 

 Impact on gap between Boorley Green and Curdridge – at recent local 
plan examination parish council asked for the remaining area between 
Boorley Green and the River Hamble to be included on Settlement 
Gaps plan. Inspector has asked EBC to carry out review of settlement 
gaps policy. 

 Design and density is contrary to BO1 which seeks a lower density to 
allow a softer rounding off of the settlement.  Buildings should be a 
maximum of 2 storey. 

32



 Insufficient information re: foul drainage. 

 Dubious benefits to the community, will bring only increased traffic, 
noise, pollution and disturbance to the detriment of health and 
wellbeing of existing residents. 
 

70. Curdridge Parish Council – Object on the grounds that this application 
almost doubles the number of dwellings proposed in the original Outline 
Planning Application and the development now extends significantly into the 
settlement gap between Boorley Green and Curdridge and is very close to a 
play area thus greatly extending the urbanisation.   
 

71. Durley Parish Council – No response. 
 

Representations Received 
 

72. 6 letters of objection on grounds of: 
 
Principle of development 

 Contrary to policies of adopted and emerging local plans and the 
neighbourhood plan.  BO1 of the emerging local plan only allocates it 
for 30 dwellings. 

 No need for development as Council has a 5 year housing land supply 
and sufficient informal and formal open space. 

 Overdevelopment of local area which will have more than 2,400 
houses compared to 220 existing dwellings. 

 No formal SLAA site assessment. 

 Site is greenfield and local/strategic gap. 

 Site is safeguarded in Hampshire Waste and Minerals Plan for sand 
and gravel. 

 Development could be precursor to further development on adjoining 
land. 

 
Traffic and Transport 

 Increase in traffic with adverse impact on highways infrastructure and 
increase in rat -running. 

 Poor local public transport provision, inaccurate information given in 
supporting documents 

 Proposals do not meet requirements of adopted policy 100.T re: well 
served by choice of travel modes and minimising impact on existing 
transport network and need to travel. 

 Area proposed for traffic calming. 

 Only 1 access with poor turning space for larger vehicles.  Access 
should be via Wallace Avenue not Maddoxford Lane and Wangfield 
Lane. 

 Using Maddoxford Lane for construction traffic will cause pollution, 
noise, debris, damage the road and detract from quality of life for 
residents. 
 

Infrastructure 

33



 Already no healthcare provision for homes in Boorley Park or other 2 
developments on Maddoxford Lane 

 Conflicts with DCO for Southampton to London pipeline and in vicinity 
of gas governor. 

 No local employment opportunities for new residents. 
 
Ecology 

 Adverse impact on surrounding environment and wildlife. 
 

Flood and Drainage 

 Insufficient capacity in existing foul sewer and no additional capacity in 
new foul sewer. 

 Concern re: surface water and sewage disposal. 

 No inclusion of grey water holding tanks. 

 Site is a flood plain and foundations would have to be pile driven. 

 Ditches on Maddoxford Lane permanently filled with run-off water, 
fields should be left alone to help the run off from older part of Boorley 
Green and Boorley Park. 

 If allowed there should be S106 developer contributions should include 
monies and management of water courses and ditches and active 
engagement with adjacent landowners as part of SuDS system. 

 
Pollution 

 Will increase noise and air pollution. 
 

Affordable housing 

 Unclear if affordable housing will meet NPPF requirements. 
 

Residential amenities 

 Does nothing to contribute to health and wellbeing of residents. 
 

73. 1 letter of support in principle with comments re: location of affordable housing 
needing to be nearer the local facilities; and the potential access to land at 
Westfield shown on the plan should be provided up to the boundary so there 
is no future ransom strip should land at Westfield be developed in the future 
 

74. 2 letters of support for the application. 
 

75. Other representations 
Hampshire Swifts have commented on the application and sought a condition 
to secure the provision of swift boxes within the development, as 
recommended in the ecology report. 
 

76. University Hospital Southampton has commented that the proposed 
development comprises of 104 dwellings and based on the 2011 Census 
average household size is 2.4 persons per dwelling.  We have calculated that 
this development will accommodate a population of 250 residents.  This 
means that this residential development will generate 239 interventions for the 
Trust based on the average calculation above.  The Trust will receive no 

34



commissioner funding to meet each dwelling’s healthcare demand in the first 
year of occupation due to the preceding year’s outturn activity volume based 
contract and there is no mechanism for the Trust to recover these costs in 
subsequent years. Without securing such contributions, the Trust would be 
unable to support the proposals and would object to the application because 
of the direct and adverse impact of it on the delivery of health care in the 
Trust’s area.  Therefore, the contribution requested for this proposed 
development is £95,290.00.  

 
Designations Applicable to Site 

 

 Countryside 

 Within catchment area of Solent and Southampton Water SPA and SAC and 
River Hamble SAC 

 Solent Recreation Disturbance Zone 

 Mineral Consultation Area 
 
The Development Plan 
 
77. At the current time the Development Plan for the borough comprises the 

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013). 
 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) 
 

78. The site is in a Minerals Consultation Area and Policy 15 seeks prior 
extraction of minerals where appropriate. 
 

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (EBLP 
2001-2011) 

 
79. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 was adopted in May 

2006.  In November 2008, the Council submitted a list of proposed Saved 
Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that they be saved until they 
could be replaced by a new Local Development Framework. The following 
policies were Saved and are considered to be of relevance to the 
development proposals: 
 

 1.CO – Countryside 

 18.CO – Landscape character 

 22.NC – Protection of SSSIs 

 23.NC – Protection of SINCs 

 25.NC – Biodiversity protection 

 26.NC – Biodiversity enhancement 

 28.ES – Waste collection and storage 

 30.ES – Noise and vibration 

 31.ES – Residential development and noise 

 32.ES – Pollution control 

 33.ES – Air quality 

35



 34.ES – Reduction of greenhouse gases 

 35.ES – Contaminated land 

 36.ES – Lighting 

 37.ES – Energy efficiency 

 42.ES – Development in the catchment of a watercourse 

 45.ES – Sustainable drainage 

 59.BE – High quality design 

 72.H - Density 

 73.H – Mix of dwelling types 

 74.H – Affordable housing 

 100.T – Sustainable transport 

 101.T – Additional traffic levels 

 102.T – Safe accesses 

 104.T – Off-highway parking 

 147.OS – Provision of public open space 

 165.TA – Public art 

 168.LB – Archaeological evaluation 

 190.IN – Infrastructure provision  

 191.IN – Developer contributions 
 

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 
 
80. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 

in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.  

 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
81. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 

31st October 2018 and the examination concluded in January 2020. The 
Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April 2020.  The 
Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to enable its 
adoption, anticipated in late 2020/early 2021.  Given the status of the 
Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall moderate weight can be attributed 
to it. The most relevant policies are: 

 

 S1 – Delivering sustainable development 

 S2 – Approach to new housing 

 S3 – Location of new housing  

 S7 – New development in the countryside 

 S10 – Green infrastructure 

 S11 – Community infrastructure 

 DM1 – General criteria for new development 

 DM2 – Environmentally sustainable development 

 DM3 – Adaptation to climate change 

36



 DM6 – Sustainable surface water management and watercourse 
management 

 DM8 – Pollution 

 DM9 – Public utilities and communications 

 DM10 – Water and waste water 

 DM11 - Nature conservation 

 DM12 – Heritage assets 

 DM13 – General development criteria – transport 

 DM14 – Parking 

 DM26 – Creating a mix of housing 

 DM30 – Delivering affordable housing 

 DM31 – Dwellings with higher access standards 

 DM32 – Internal space standards for new residential development 

 DM35 – Provision of recreation and open space facilities with new 
development 

 DM38 – Community, leisure and cultural facilities 

 DM 40 – Funding infrastructure 

 BO1 – Land south of Maddoxford Lane and east of Crows Nest Lane – 
allocated for approximately 30 dwellings  
 

Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
82. Relevant documents are: 
 

 Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Biodiversity (December 2009) 

 Affordable Housing (July 2009) 

 Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009) 

 Residential Parking Standards (January 2009) 

 Planning Obligations (July 2008) 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
 
83. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 

84. The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas. 

37



 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
85. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 

provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications.  

 
Policy Commentary 
 
86. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
(policies detailed above) unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
87. The relevant policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 

this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the relevant 
planning policies and the principle of development; the form, layout and 
design of that proposed; its impact upon the street scene and character of the 
surrounding area; impact upon trees, nature conservation and biodiversity; 
environmental sustainability; parking and highway issues; drainage and any 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. 

 
Principle of the Development 
 
88. The application site lies outside of the urban edge and within an area 

designated as countryside. As such, saved policy 1.CO of the adopted Local 
Plan is of relevance. This policy contains a presumption against new 
development within the countryside that does not comprise an appropriate 
extension to an existing building or use, unless it is for specified agricultural, 
recreational or public utility purposes. The objective of this policy is to not only 
protect the countryside for its own sake but also to prevent the visual and 
physical sprawl of towns and villages, whilst at the same time supporting the 
provision of development that is genuinely appropriate for such a location. 

 
89. The application seeks approval for the development of the site for residential 

purposes in the form of up to 92 dwellings.  Large-scale developments of this 
nature are not supported by saved policy 1.CO and as such the proposals are 
contrary to the development plan and therefore not acceptable in principle.  
Planning permission should therefore be refused unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  The material considerations and the 
impacts of the development are considered in the below assessment of the 
proposals.  
 

90. Whilst the application site is within the designated countryside in the adopted 
local plan, the submitted local plan does include draft allocation BO1 “Land 
south of Maddoxford Lane and east of Crows Nest Lane”.  This allocates the 
western half of the site, up to the central tree line, for the residential 
development of approximately 30 dwellings.  Whilst the submitted local plan is 
not yet adopted it is considered that the draft allocation indicates that the 
development of the western part of the site is considered by the Council to be 

38



acceptable in principle.  However, the remainder of the application site to the 
east of the tree belt is still shown to be within the countryside where such 
development would not be acceptable.   
 

91. It is also clear from the Local Plan Inspector’s initial post hearing advice in 
relation to the submitted local plan that the Council has not been required to 
identify additional housing allocations in the Plan following the recommended 
deletion of the Strategic Growth Option (SGO). 
 

92. As such, the policies of the submitted local plan do not support the proposed 
development of this larger site for 92 dwellings. 

 
Sustainable Development 
 
93. The NPPF is a significant material consideration when assessing planning 

applications and section 2 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning 
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, which 
can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 

94. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
over-arching objectives – economic, social and environmental (which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways) that 
should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and 
the application of policies in the Framework. 
 

95. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so, should take local 
circumstances into account to reflect the character, needs and opportunities 
of each area.  Each of the three dimensions of sustainable development is 
considered below. 
 

96. The NPPF also states that development proposals which accord with the 
development plan should be approved without delay.  Where the development 
plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
outweigh the benefits; or specific policies in the Framework indicate 
development should be restricted.  Local plan policies that do not accord with 
the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-of-date”.  The NPPF requires that due 
weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their 
degree of consistency with the NPPF.  In other words the closer the policies in 
the plan accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given.  A deliverable 5 year supply of housing within each local 
authority area is required, and if this is not demonstrated a tilted balance in 
favour of the development applies. 
 

97. It is the Council’s position that although the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2001-2011 was adopted before the NPPF it is not out of date simply because 
of its age nor because it is time expired.  Similarly the saved policies of the 
local plan are not out of date by virtue of a lack of a 5 year housing land 

39



supply as the Council has a 5.6 year housing land supply (as of August 2020) 
and also passes the housing delivery test.  Furthermore it is considered that 
the relevant saved policies of the local plan are generally consistent with the 
NPPF and therefore due weight can be given to them.  As such it is the 
Council’s view that the relevant saved policies are not out-of-date and 
considerable weight can be attached to them. 

 
Economic Sustainability 
 
98. Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing economic sustainability, seeks to 

‘help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that 
sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right 
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by 
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure. 
 

99. The proposals would provide some economic benefits.  These include 
employment opportunities that would be created during the construction 
phase of the development, which will in turn result in increased spending 
within the local economy, for example on materials, goods and other services.  
In addition, the future occupiers of the residential properties would be likely to 
support local services and facilities, and a New Homes Bonus would also be 
paid.  Further, the proposals would result in financial contributions being 
secured to offset certain impacts of the development, and result in the 
enhancement of local infrastructure, facilities and public art. 
 

100. Provided that they are appropriately secured, these elements are benefits of 
the development that would be considered in the planning balance and overall 
it is considered that the development would be economically sustainable. 
However, it should be noted that these benefits are not unique to this scheme 
and could be accrued from a development of this size in a different location. 

 
Social Sustainability 
 
101. Chapter 5 of the 2019 NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ states 

that, ‘it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come 
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed 
without unnecessary delay’. 
 

102. The proposed development would provide for 92 dwellings in a mix of 
detached, semi-detached, terraced, maisonette and flatted 1-4 bed properties, 
with 35% (32 units) proposed as affordable units.  It is considered therefore 
that the proposals would be in accordance with saved policies 73.H and 74.H, 
draft policy DM30 and the aims of the NPPF to deliver a sufficient supply of 
homes.  These dwellings would support social wellbeing through the provision 
of a mixed and balanced community.  The delivery of both open market and 
affordable housing would therefore be a social benefit of the scheme and this 
is a material consideration in the determination of the application.   
 

40



103. The proposals also include the provision of on-site public open space and if 
permission were to be granted financial contributions would be sought 
towards local educational, health and community facilities that would benefit 
the residents.   
 

104. Provided that they are appropriately secured, these elements are benefits of 
the development that would be considered in the planning balance and overall 
it is considered that the development would be socially sustainable. However, 
it should be noted that these benefits are not unique to this scheme and could 
be accrued from a development of this size in a different location. 

 
Environmental Sustainability 
 
105. The size and location of the application site is such that it has potential to 

impact on a number of environmental factors and these are discussed in 
detail below. 

 
Impact on the countryside and surrounding area 
 
106. As set out above the site is located within the countryside in the adopted local 

plan and the western part of the site is allocated for residential development in 
the submitted local plan. 
 

107. The application site includes a central tree line that runs north – south through 
the site that together with the tree line to the south running parallel with 
Maddoxford Lane forms a strong visual feature in the local area.  These 
mature tree lines demarcate the eastern and southern boundaries of the draft 
allocation BO1 enclosing the site within the surrounding landscape.  They 
would provide a strong natural boundary to the built-up area as proposed to 
be extended by draft allocation BO1.  The importance of this tree line is 
further strengthened by the fact that it lines up with the eastern edge of the 
Boorley Park development to the north, such that the draft allocation could be 
seen as rounding off the settlement boundary in the east of Boorley Green.   
 

108. Developing land to the east of the draft allocation would extend the built up 
area approximately a further 130-150m to the east, joining it with the existing 
isolated development of Westfield and the neighbouring properties that are 
sited close to the borough boundary and the neighbouring settlement of 
Curdridge.   
 

109. It is considered that the inclusion of land to the east of the tree belt would 
have an unacceptable urbanising impact to the detriment of the surrounding 
area.  The proposed layout, form and density of the development fails to 
provide sufficient landscaping to create a naturalistic setting on this edge of 
settlement site.  As such it is considered that the proposed development 
would be visually intrusive and have an unacceptably urbanising impact on 
the surrounding area.   

 
Access, Traffic and Transport 
 

41



110. It is proposed that the development will be served via a single access from 
Maddoxford Lane, sited towards the western end of the site.  HCC Highways 
as the Highway Authority have been consulted on the application and have 
raised no objection in principle to the proposed access, but have highlighted 
the need for pedestrian and cycle links to connect to the Boorley Park 
development to the north.  
 

111. The Transport Assessment submitted with the application states that the 
proposed development would generate a predicted 47 two-way vehicle trips in 
the AM and PM peak hours.  While the third party objections to the increase in 
traffic arising from the development are noted, HCC Highways have confirmed 
that in terms of highway impact on junctions, there would be no justifiable 
reason for a highway objection.  However, in order to ensure the cumulative 
impact of development in the local area is both mitigated against, and also 
improved in terms of highway infrastructure and sustainable options HCC 
Highways have requested that a financial contribution towards improvements 
in the local network and provision and encouragement for alternative modes 
of transport be sought should permission be granted.  In addition a financial 
contribution towards a Traffic Regulation Order for parking restrictions at the 
access and pinch points within the development would be required. 
 

112. Pedestrian and cycle access are via the main access to the site, with onward 
connections required to link with the existing pedestrian and cycle 
infrastructure at Boorley Park to the north.  A link through the public open 
space to the western boundary is proposed to aid future connectivity to the 
adjoining development site to the west.  A complete link connecting the 2 sites 
cannot be secured as part of this application as it would involve the crossing 
of the access track to the utilities building.  However, with the public open 
space provided on this western boundary it allows for the sites to be 
connected should the opportunity for a link be possible in the future. 
 

113. In summary, whilst a safe access can be provided, and the site can offer 
some sustainable mode options for travel, improved connections to the 
existing facilities and other measures to promote and encourage sustainable 
travel are required.  Financial contributions towards such improvements could 
be secured via a S106 legal agreement.  
 

Layout, Design and Parking  
 
114. Amended plans have been submitted that have reduced the overall number of 

units from 104 to 92.  The reduction in the overall number of units is noted. 
However, this has done little to alleviate what is still a fairly dense scheme.  
Whilst more space has been found in places, this is not sufficient to 
adequately overcome the concerns previously highlighted with regards to 
freeing up space to better integrate parking and provide much more soft 
landscaping to provide a better setting and softer character for the 
development.  These issues principally result from the density of the scheme 
proposed, which is still considered to be too high for a countryside edge site.  
Similarly the use of 2.5 storey dwellings is considered to be inappropriate in 
this location.  There needs to be a more gradual and softer transition between 

42



the developed site and the undeveloped land to its south and east.  This is not 
helped by the continued inclusion of the eastern half of the site which is not 
intended to be allocated for residential development. 
 

115. Concern was raised about the quality of the parking courts in the original 
submission and whilst it is noted that the amended plans have made some 
minor revisions that would provide a modest improvement to these areas, 
parking provision throughout much of the scheme is still reliant on these 
courts.  Parking spaces are quite hard up against the front elevations of 
dwellings fronting these courts, severely impacting upon the quality of outlook 
for residents.  Whilst some further soft landscaping and tree planting has been 
added, insufficient space has been provided around parking spaces to prevent 
planted verges and margins from being trampled on. 
 

116. In addition the pumping station is located very close to the northern boundary 
with Maddoxford Lane, the SuDS attenuation pond and some adjoining 
parking spaces.  Greater separation would have provided opportunity for more 
planting and space around it so as not to appear as such a cramped layout. 
 

117. The proposed development results in the need for 0.566ha of public open 
space.  The plans show 0.316ha of public open space in the form of an 
informal recreational and kick about space on the western boundary the site, 
but no equipped play area is proposed.  While this part of the site could be 
used as an informal kick about space the landscape drawings do not reflect 
this with large areas of wildflower meadow, which although attractive in itself 
would not be conducive for the use of the area as a kickabout space.   
 

118. In addition informal open space is provided around the central tree belt.  This 
has been calculated by the applicant as totalling 0.507ha but this includes 
some small landscaped areas along the northern and eastern boundaries that 
are not considered to count as useable public open space.  0.288ha of 
woodland and hedgerow buffers are also shown on the southern boundary but 
again these are not considered to form useable public open space.  The is 
therefore a shortfall of on-site open space and play provision.  This could be 
mitigated for by a financial contribution towards off-site provision, but an 
increased amount of on-site public open space would help to address some of 
the other issues raised about the density of the layout and the need for a 
softer form of development on the rural edge.  Financial contributions towards 
off-site provision of formal recreational facilities and wildlife sites would also 
be required should permission be granted. 
 

119. There are a number of instances within the proposed layout where the 
development does not meet the Council’s standards with regards to 
separation distances, garden sizes or private amenity areas for flats, such that 
the proposed layout would have an adverse impact on the residential 
amenities of the future occupiers, contrary to saved policy 59.BE, draft policy 
DM1 and the Quality Places SPD.  Irrespective of the principle of the 
development this is another indication that the number of dwellings proposed 
on the site is too high. 
 

43



120. The proposed dwellings on the eastern boundary are approximately 100m 
from the existing neighbouring property.  Other existing or proposed dwellings 
are located on the other side of Maddoxford Lane.  While a detailed layout has 
not been approved for the site to the west (application ref. O/16/79600) the 
public open space sits on the western boundary of this site so there would be 
a minimum of 70m separation distance between properties on the two sites.  
As such it is considered that the proposed development would not have a 
significantly detrimental impact on the residential amenities of existing 
occupiers. 
 

121. The proposed dwellings are generally of traditional design with mainly brick 
elevations under a reconstituted slate or concrete tile roof.  This is considered 
to be an acceptable approach in principle.  However, there are a number of 
plots where the design of the units needs to be improved to ensure a quality 
scheme would be delivered, e.g. corner plots failing to adequately address 
both streets and provide sufficient natural surveillance of adjoining streets and 
parking courts; pairs of semi-detached properties where one is 2 storey and 
the other is 2 ½ storey creating an unbalanced and incongruous feature in the 
streetscene; units that need additional windows, chimneys or architectural 
details to add interest in the streetscene; or W.C.s, bathrooms or en-suites 
that could be provided with windows for natural light and ventilation.  There 
are also some instances within the layout where inappropriate boundary 
treatments are proposed such that the proposals would not result in a high 
quality development.  The combination of these issues is such that it is not 
considered that the proposal would result in a good quality development and it 
is therefore contrary to saved policy 59.BE, draft policy DM1 and the Quality 
Places SPD. 

 
122. Parking is generally provided in the form of garages, drives and parking 

courts.  All houses have been provided with allocated parking that meets the 
Council’s parking standards.  However, there is an under provision of parking 
for the block of flats in the western half of the site where all 1 and 2-bed units 
should be provided with 2 allocated spaces, but 2 of the flats are only 
provided with 1 allocated parking space and no unallocated spaces are 
provided.   In addition one plot is provided with layby parking in close 
proximity to a parking court that relies on part unallocated parking provision 
and it is considered that the location and design of the spaces is such that 
they could easily be mistaken for publicly available on-street parking.  While 
they could be demarcated to indicate that they are for a particular unit it is an 
example of poor layout design that should be improved.   
 

123. It is also noted that the proposed garages measure less than 6m in length 
internally and as such do not provide sufficient space to count as a car 
parking space and space for secure cycle parking.  However this could be 
resolved by requiring all properties to have a shed in the rear garden to 
provide for secure cycle parking, should permission be granted.  Sheds are 
already shown to be provided for all units without garages.   
 

124. Furthermore it is noted however that the block of 4 flats in the south eastern 
corner are not provided with secure cycle parking in the form of a lockable 

44



cycle store.  Instead the proposed layout refers to a covered bike stand for 4 
bikes, which is not considered to be secure cycle parking.  As such the 
proposal does not meet the Council’s requirements for cycle parking for these 
plots. 
 

125. A sufficient number of formal visitor parking spaces have been provided 
across the site and it is considered that there are sufficient opportunities within 
the layout for additional informal parking. 

 
126. It is not considered therefore that sufficient car and cycle parking has been 

provided for all units and the proposal is contrary to saved policies 59.BE and 
104.T, draft policy DM14 and the Council’s Residential Parking Standards 
SPD. 

 
Landscape and Trees 

  
127. In addition to the comments about the principle of the development it is 

considered that there is insufficient landscaping along the northern boundary 
with Maddoxford Lane and the southern boundary of the site to restrict views 
of the proposed development from the surrounding area.   In addition some of 
the proposed built-form is located close to existing hedgerows putting the 
longevity of the established hedgerow at risk. 

 
128. There is a significant tree line running north to south through the centre of the 

site and another running along the southern boundary, none of which are 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  A road linking the western and 
eastern parts of the site will cross the north to south tree line.   
 

129. The Council’s Tree Officer has confirmed that the location and proposed 
construction of the road linking the two sides of the site is acceptable.  There 
were previously concerns that the dwellings in the south of the site were too 
close to the trees on the southern boundary and that the dwellings would be 
adversely affected by the shading and dominance of the trees.  Amended 
plans were submitted that changed the layout in the southern part of the site 
and provided greater separation between the dwellings and the trees such 
that the Council’s Tree Officer no longer objects to the application, provided 
conditions relating to tree protection are attached to any permission granted. 
 

130. Within the site there is insufficient planting proposed to provide a suitable 
landscaped and naturalistic setting for this development on the countryside 
edge.  Whilst the amended plans have proposed additional trees there are a 
number sited in rear gardens that would be better sited in public amenity 
space to ensure long-term benefit for the development as a whole. 
 

131. With regards to the detailed landscape proposals improvements could also be 
made with regard to the use of a diverse range of native species and the use 
of appropriate hard landscape materials. 
 

132. It is therefore considered that the proposed scheme fails to provide sufficient 
landscape opportunities such as would be required to prevent a hard urban 

45



development that would have a detrimental visual impact.  As such the 
proposal is contrary to Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted local plan and Draft 
Policy DM1 of the submitted local plan. 
 

Drainage and Flood Risk  
 
133. The site is located in flood zone 1 and therefore is considered by the 

Environment Agency to have a low probability of flooding.  The application 
was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment that includes a drainage 
strategy.  A SuDS scheme is proposed for the management of the surface 
water drainage, including the use of swales, filter strips, and permeable 
paving.  The system ultimately leads to an attenuation feature on the eastern 
edge of the site that will discharge into Ford Lake at a rate that is no greater 
than the existing greenfield run-off rate. 
 

134. Hampshire County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority were consulted on 
the application and have raised no objection to the proposed development.   

 
135. The Council’s Ecology Officer has requested some further information and 

clarification has been requested in relation to the detailed design of the 
surface water drainage system in terms of overland flow routes and the use of 
geocellular storage, swales and surface water sewer pipes.  Additional 
information has been submitted and is currently being considered.  Members 
will be updated at committee.  
 

136. In addition Southern Water have confirmed that a water supply can be 
provided to the site and that foul sewage disposal can be provided to service 
the proposed development subject to reinforcement of the local network and 
have requested a drainage condition be attached to any permission granted.  
The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states that the new drainage serving 
the proposed development bypasses Boorley Green and has no direct affect 
upon the settlement’s existing sewer system as Southern Water has identified 
an existing foul sewer at Hedge End that has capacity for the site’s domestic 
drainage needs to which the site will connect.  Southern Water have indicated 
that due to the vibration, noise and potential odour generated by sewage 
pumping stations, no habitable rooms should be located closer than 15m to 
the boundary of a proposed pumping station site.  The layout shows that no 
dwelling would be closer than 15m from the edge of the pumping station 
compound. 

 
Ecology  
 
137. The Council’s Ecology Officer has considered the application and confirmed 

that all necessary ecological surveys have been carried out and that a 
Biodiversity Mitigation, Management and Enhancement Plan should be 
conditioned should permission be granted to ensure that wildlife features are 
appropriately protected, enhanced and managed.  In addition a lighting 
scheme would need to be submitted and agreed to ensure the areas around 
the attenuation pond and boundary vegetation are kept as dark corridors.  

 

46



138. It is noted that policy BO1 includes a requirement that a buffer of 20m from 
Marshy Grassland, Botley Site of Importance for Nature Conservation must be 
provided.  The SINC is situated approximately 200m to the south and 
approximately 100m to the east and therefore a suitable buffer is provided. 

 
139. Natural England have raised the issue of high levels of nitrogen and 

phosphorus in the Solent water environment with evidence that these 
nutrients are causing eutrophication at the designated sites (Solent & 
Southampton Water Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and the 
Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC)). These nutrient inputs 
are currently caused mostly by wastewater from existing housing and 
agricultural sources. The resulting dense mats of green algae are impacting 
on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species. 

 
140. There is the potential for future housing developments (which involve a net 

increase in dwellings) across the Solent region to further exacerbate these 
impacts and thereby create a risk to the potential future conservation status of 
the Solent Complex and the features for which it is designated, therefore 
acting against the stated conservation objectives of the European sites. 
 

141. As such Natural England now require developments in south Hampshire to 
quantify the nitrate level of their development and mitigate any increase in 
nitrates compared to the existing land use. A nitrogen budget has been 
provided for the proposed development that shows that the development 
would result in a positive nutrient balance, resulting in a likely significant effect 
on the Solent Maritime SAC, Solent and Southampton Water SPA and 
Ramsar site, if not appropriately mitigated.  A number of options are available 
to the applicant to offset any increase in nitrate levels including a Council 
scheme that enables developers to purchase credits towards off-site 
mitigation that is achieved by land that is within the Council’s control being 
taken out of agricultural use.  The supporting information submitted with the 
application indicates that the applicant would seek to use the Council’s 
scheme. 
 

142. Similarly, as the site is located within 5.6km of the Solent and Southampton 
Water Special Protection Area (SPA) the increase in residential 
accommodation could lead to adverse effects from recreational disturbance 
on the Solent SPA sites if not appropriately mitigated.  Such mitigation could 
be secured via a financial contribution towards the Solent Disturbance 
Mitigation Project (Bird Aware Solent Strategy), which provides protection for 
the migratory birds within the Solent and Southampton Water Special 
Protection Area. 
 

143. Failure to secure the appropriate mitigation for the increase in nitrate levels 
arising from the development and the recreational disturbance on the Solent 
SPA sites would mean that the proposed development would be contrary to 
the saved policy 25.NC of the adopted local plan; draft policy DM11 of the 
submitted local plan, the NPPF, and the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017. 

 

47



Heritage  
 
144. The historic environment assessments submitted with the application have 

established that there is a limited archaeological interest within the site.  This 
is defined as the potential for the presence of buried archaeological remains, 
in particular relating to agricultural activity from the post medieval period 
onwards.  However, HCC Archaeology have confirmed that the possible 
archaeological features identified by the geophysical survey will warrant 
further investigation in some parts of the site.  As such conditions should be 
attached to any permission granted to ensure the assessment, recording and 
reporting of any archaeological deposits affected by the development are 
secured. 
 

145. Maddoxford Farm to the north-east, on the opposite side of Maddoxford Lane, 
is a locally listed building and the inclusion of the eastern part of the site will 
extend the urban form to opposite this heritage asset such that it would no 
longer retain any semblance of a rural feel.  It is noted however that it is only a 
locally listed building therefore it is of lesser significance than nationally listed 
buildings and it is not considered that the impact on the setting of the locally 
listed building is such that the proposal would be unacceptable. 

 
Noise and Air Quality  
 
146. As noted above Environmental Health have raised concerns about the 

possible adverse impact on residential amenities of future occupiers arising 
from the lawful commercial activity on the neighbouring site to the east.  In 
September 2000 an enforcement notice was issued alleging the change of 
use of the land at Holly Tree Farm for the storage of motor vehicles and motor 
vehicle body parts and scrap material associated with them (ref. 
Q/15716/006/00).  An appeal against the enforcement notice was allowed in 
April 2001 (appeal ref. APP/W1715/C/00/1053214) with the Inspector 
concluding that there was sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the site had 
been used for storing damaged cars and car parts, mainly body panels, prior 
to them being sold.  He commented that while the Council officers had 
recorded a clearance of the site on 2 occasions within the 10 years, he 
accepted that the storage of parts could have continued unobserved, 
particularly if parts had been obscured by tall grass and other vegetation.  In 
any event, he went on to say, temporary clearance, if it had occurred, would 
not indicate abandonment of the use. 
 

147. On a similar point, it is considered that although the use may have reduced in 
scale in recent years this is not sufficient to indicate that the lawful use 
established in 2001 has been abandoned.  As such commercial activity could 
lawfully increase to the scale to that which was discussed in the enforcement 
appeal in 2001 and this needs to be taken into account when considering this 
application. 

 
148. Environmental Health do not have concerns about the relationship between 

the current level of use and the proposed residential development.  However, 
they have expressed concern about the possible impact were activity on site 

48



to increase in intensity.  The Environmental Noise Impact Assessment 
submitted with the application does not provide any detailed assessment of 
possible noise arising from this commercial activity.  It states that the site is 
only being used for storage of car bumpers with little or no commercial 
vehicular movement and that any movement on the site is complementary to 
the existing vehicular movements along Maddoxford Lane with regard to 
frequency content and amplitude.  It states that during several site inspections 
it was noted that no mechanical plant or machinery was present on the site 
and therefore a noise assessment of the storage yard could not be 
undertaken.  It goes on to state that the site currently has B2 or B8 use and 
the existing activities are not causing a detrimental acoustic impact to the 
proposed development and that it is impossible to say what may or may not 
change on this commercial site and without specific details of activities, 
movements and plant, no further assessment can accurately be conducted. 

 
149. Given there was no mention of activities such as car repairs, re-spraying or 

breaking up of cars, etc. in the Inspector’s decision it is not considered that 
such activities were considered to have occurred and been found to be lawful.  
Therefore, if they were to occur in the future planning permission would be 
required.  However, it is considered that the storage of cars and car parts 
could lawfully increase from the current low level activity.  Mention is made in 
the Inspector’s decision letter that at the time of his site visit the storage of car 
body panels densely covered the land and were up to 3 or 4 deep.  While it 
has been mentioned that the activity does not currently involve any 
mechanical plant or machinery it is possible that it could be used to unload 
cars and/or parts on delivery, or to move them around the site, if the use was 
to intensify.  As there is no specific mention in the Inspector’s decision letter 
as to the manner in which the parts are moved onto and around the site then it 
would be unreasonable to argue that the use of mechanical plant or 
machinery in association with an increased level of storage activity would be 
unlawful and need planning permission in its own right.  As such it is 
considered that the impact of an increase in the intensity of the activity of the 
storing of cars, parts and associated scrap metal up to the level described by 
the Inspector in 2001, together with a potential associated use of mechanical 
plant or machinery needs to be assessed as part of the determination of this 
application.  Insufficient information has been submitted with the application to 
enable this assessment to be undertaken, therefore it is considered that the 
application has failed to demonstrate that there would not be an adverse 
impact on the residential amenities of the future occupiers, contrary to the 
aims of saved policy 30.ES, draft policy DM8 and the provisions of the NPPF. 

  
150. No air quality report was submitted with the application, but Environmental 

Health have confirmed that in line with Institute of Air Quality Management 
guidance one is not needed as the annual average daily traffic level would be 
less than 500 and raise no objection to the application on air quality grounds. 
 

Contaminated Land 
 
151. Records indicate that the is a potential high risk of contamination due to the 

adjacent scrap yard.  A ground investigation report was submitted with the 

49



application.  Environmental Health have confirmed that while the report 
demonstrates the site is free of contamination no mention was made of the 
scrap yard and further sampling should be undertaken in relation to this and 
other potential sources.  However, Environmental Health have confirmed that 
the further survey work required could be secured via condition should 
permission be granted. 

 
Climate Change 
 
152. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that all 

planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the 
environment. The environmental implications of this application are detailed 
throughout this report and proposed mitigations could be secured through 
conditions to include requirements for low energy and water use 
infrastructure, extensive tree planting and landscaping, provisions for 
sustainable transport, sustainable drainage, and ecological protection and 
habitat enhancements, should permission be granted. 

 
Human Health 
 
153. Human health relating to ground conditions has been considered and subject 

to conditions relating to contaminated land being attached to any permission 
granted it is not considered that there would be any other significantly harmful 
impacts on human health.  As discussed above it is considered that is has not 
been satisfactorily demonstrated that there would not be an adverse impact 
on residential amenities, and therefore human health, arising from lawful 
commercial activity on neighbouring land.  There is not considered to be any 
significantly harmful impacts on human health arising in relation to air quality. 

 
Conclusion on environmental sustainability 
 
154. For the reasons set out above it is considered that the proposed development 

would not be environmentally sustainable due to its impact on the countryside 
and surrounding area, inappropriate layout, design, density and scale, 
insufficient landscaping and insufficient parking. 

 
Other considerations 
 
Pipelines 
 
155. As noted above a gas pipeline runs in a generally north-south direction 

through the site, approximately 60-80m in from the western boundary.  In 
addition between the western boundary and the central tree line the easement 
for the proposed Southampton to London pipeline, for which a Development 
Consent Order was granted on 7.10.20, runs parallel with Maddoxford Lane, 
approximately 30m in from the northern boundary.  Esso have been consulted 
on the application and confirmed, in relation to the existing gas pipeline that 
they have no objection to the proposed development provided that their 
procedures for safe working are adhered to.  A note drawing the applicant’s 
attention to these requirements could be attached were permission to be 

50



granted.  In relation to the Southampton to London pipeline Esso have raised 
no objection subject to a condition being attached to any permission being 
granted. 

 
Pylons 
 
156. Draft Policy BO1 vii) of the submitted local plan refers to the need to examine 

the potential for the relocation of the overhead power line crossing the site in 
order to optimise the site’s development potential.  The power line crosses the 
north western corner of the site close to the western boundary and 
Maddoxford Lane.  Due to the location of the gas pipeline approximately 60-
80m from the western boundary this portion of the site is proposed as public 
open space as the pipeline easements restrict how this part of the site could 
be developed.  As such it is not considered that the relocation of the overhead 
power line is necessary as it would not enhance the site’s development 
potential. 

 
Minerals 
 
157. The proposed development lies within the mineral and waste consultation 

area and is covered by Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources of the 
adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).  The purpose of the 
policy is to protect potentially economically viable mineral resource deposits 
from needless and unnecessary sterilisation. The policy seeks to encourage 
the recovery, where possible, of potential viable mineral resources prior to 
development, this concept is known as prior-extraction. 
 

158. Having reviewed the available data within the submitted application HCC, as 
the Mineral Planning Authority, have concluded that, due to the presence of 
shallow cohesive (clay and silt) deposits overlying the potentially viable sand 
and gravel of the River Terrace Deposits, the on-site geological progression is 
not a viable prior-extraction opportunity. 
 

159. However, they would still like to encourage full consideration of the 
opportunities for mineral extraction prior to and as part of the proposed 
development.  Particular opportunities may lie in the recovery of mineral 
deposits uncovered during the preparation and construction phases of the 
project, for example through the excavation of footings or trenches for 
buildings, roads, landscaping and utility infrastructure associated with the 
development.  The recovered mineral could then be either re-used on site,  
which could encourage a reduction of excavation waste removed from site as 
well as inbound materials for construction uses associated with reduced costs, 
as well potential to export off site to a local mineral operator for further 
treatment which has potential for additional revenue for the developer. It is 
recommended that discussions are made between the developer and a local 
mineral operator at the earliest stage.  There should be no additional vehicle 
movements associated with these practices, as well as noise, vibration, dust 
issues. 
 

51



160. In light of this HCC have requested that conditions be attached in relation to 
mineral recovery, should permission be granted. 
 

University Hospital Southampton NHS Trust 
 
161. In addition to the contributions towards local health infrastructure provided 

through the West Hants CCG, the University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Trust have requested contributions be secured for the first three years of 
occupation of each dwelling to bridge the lag in funding of staff from other 
sources in response to the direct impact on, and cost to, their acute 
healthcare services as a result of additional pressure placed on the service by 
residents of this development.  Using a cost / dwelling tariff, a contribution of 
£95,290 is sought. Whilst the pressure of new development on the service is 
recognised, it is not unique to Eastleigh but experienced across the Trust’s 
wider catchment area.  All new development will place pressure on the 
service, and this pressure should be assessed and planned for at a strategic 
level (and not on a site by site basis) based on forecast housing growth within 
the catchment of the Trust.  Whilst it is the view of officers that this important 
issue should be addressed at a strategic level and contributions are not 
secured as part of this development, Members of the committee may form a 
different view. 

 
Planning Obligations 
 
162. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved Policies 

25.NC, 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS, 165.TA and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2001-2011, Policies DM1, DM13, DM30, DM35 and 
DM40 of the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the 
Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD, and the requirements of Regulation 
122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for 
planning obligations to ensure on and off-site provision for facilities and 
infrastructure made necessary by the development, and to mitigate against 
any increased need/pressure on existing facilities. This is in addition to the 
requisite on-site provision of affordable housing and any necessary 
ecological mitigation measures.  
 

163. Contributions / obligations towards the provision of the following 
infrastructure, community and environmental facilities or mitigation measures 
have been identified as being required if permission were to be granted: 

  

 35% on-site affordable housing  

 Transport infrastructure and sustainable options 

 Community infrastructure projects  

 On-site and off-site public open space and play provision, adoption and 
maintenance 

 Public Art Provision 

 Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project 

 Local Health infrastructure provision 

 Nitrogen deposition mitigation 

 Primary and Secondary Education 

52



 Traffic Regulation Order 
 
164. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure would 

comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards the projects 
which are directly related to the development, and are fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the proposed development. The contributions 
would be index-linked to ensure the contributions rise in line with the costs of 
providing the identified projects/measures. The obligations sought are 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and to meet 
the needs generated by the new residents and the potential impact on existing 
services and facilities.  

 
Equalities Implications 
 
165. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section149 states: - 
 
 (1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 

the need to: 
  (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
  (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
 When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the equality 
 duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  
 
166. It is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications. 
 
Conclusion 
 
167. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
168. For the reasons set out above the application is recommended for refusal on 

the grounds of it being development in the countryside for which there is no 
over-riding need given the Council’s Housing Land Supply position. The 
proposal would result in a visually intrusive development that would have an 
urbanising impact and result in a poor quality development due to the 
inappropriate layout, failure to achieve good quality architectural design 
across the site; and insufficient natural surveillance, landscaping, separation 
distances, garden sizes and private amenity spaces, car and cycle parking. 
 

169. In addition insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the 
lawful use for the storage of motor vehicles and motor vehicle body parts and 

53



associated scrap metal at Holly Tree Farm would not have an adverse impact 
on the residential amenities of the future occupiers. 
 

170. Finally, no planning obligation has been entered into to secure the necessary 
on-site provisions and off-site infrastructure and ecological mitigation 
contributions and measures.   

 
171. It is considered that the harm arising from the proposed development 

outweighs the benefits it would bring and therefore there is insufficient 
justification to over-ride the concerns and policy objections.  As such it is 
recommended that the application be refused.   

 
 
 
 
 
  

54



 
 
 
 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee – 2nd November 
2020. 
 
Application Number: H/20/88566 
Case Officer: Naomi Arnold 
Received Date: Thursday 20 August 2020 
Site Address: 33 CRANBOURNE PARK, HEDGE END, SOUTHAMPTON, 

SO30 0NX 
Applicant: Michael Huggins 
Proposal: Demolition of existing garden wall and erection of 1.8m high 

fence with gate access to the rear 
 

Recommendation: Permit 
 
     
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 

the following plans named: Site Plan, Proposed Site Plan, Location Plan, 
Proposed Elevations Plan, Removal of Garden Wall Plan. Reason: For the 
avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from 
the date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those 
listed in section 5 of the application form. Reason: To ensure a satisfactory 
visual relationship between the new development and the existing. 
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner. 

 
Report: 
 

1. This application has been referred to Committee for openness and 
transparency reasons, as the applicant is a relative of a councillor at 
Eastleigh Borough Council. 

 
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality 
 
Description of Application 
 

2. The proposal is to erect a 1.8m high fence with gate access to the rear. 
This involves removing the existing brick wall which marks the boundary of 
the rear garden, and move the boundary outward encompassing an area 

57

Agenda Item 10



of driveway at the rear of the property, bringing the new boundary in line 
with the existing rear detached garage. As the proposed fence will exceed 
1 metre above ground level (proposed height = 1.8m) adjacent to a 
highway used by vehicular traffic then planning permission is required, and 
the works proposed do not comply with Class A of Part 2. 

 
3. The application is accompanied by the following plans: 

 
4. Site Plan, Proposed Site Plan, Location Plan, Proposed Elevations Plan, 

Removal of Garden Wall Plan. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 

5. None 
 
 
Representations Received  
 

6. One letter of support 
 
Consultation Responses 
 

7. Hedge End Town Council – No Objection 
 
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Residential Area 
 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies: 
 

 25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity); 

 59.BE (Design criteria); 

 104.T (Off-highway parking) 
 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 
 

8. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While 
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can 
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 

9. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 
31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January 

58



2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April 
2020.  The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to 
enable its adoption, anticipated in late 2020/early 2021.  Given the status 
of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall moderate weight can be 
attributed to it. The most relevant policies are: 

 
Development Management policies: 

 

 DM1 (General Development Criteria); 

 DM11 (Nature Conservation);  

 DM14 (Car Parking); 

 DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas); 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

 Quality Places (November 2011); 

 Residential Parking Standards (January 2009); 

 Hedge End, West End and Botley Character Area Appraisal (HEWEB 73) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

10. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or 
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. A deliverable 5-year supply of housing within each local 
authority area is required, and if this is not demonstrated a tilted balance in 
favour of the development applies. Agent of Change principles protect 
existing businesses. 

 
11. Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic 

(supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social (providing 
housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local services); 
and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing natural, built 
and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also be taken 
into account, so that development responds to the different opportunities 
for achieving sustainable development in different areas. 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 

12. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications.  

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background 
 

59



13. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local 
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

14. The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 

 
15. The NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance constitute material 

considerations of significant weight. 
 
Principle: 
 

16. The site is located within the urban edge where the principle of 
development is accepted provided it meets other planning policy. 

 
Sustainable Development: 
 

17. Section 2 of the NPPF (February 2019) states that the purpose of the 
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs. 

 
Design and Appearance: 

 

18. Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting.  It also requires a high standard of landscape 
design, have a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, 
cyclist and pedestrians, make provision for refuse and cycle storage 
and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, 
loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes. 
 

19. The guidance provided within the Quality Places SPD advises that a 
key design principle is appropriate boundary structures stating 
‘Boundary treatments must be appropriate to the context, well-detailed 
and robust. The guidance also states, ‘For existing properties, the 
boundary treatment should be reflective of the general character of an 
area.’ (Page 23). 

 
 

20. Cranbourne Park is part of a 1970s terraced development on a 
loop/multiheaded cul-de-sacs on the southern edge of Hedge End. The 
estate is design in a unique way where garages and parking areas are 
commonly located close to the rear boundaries of the properties. Many 
of the terraces, including the terrace within which the application site 

60



sits, have their front elevation facing onto a landscaped strip and their 
rear elevation facing onto the estate road. 

 

Scale and Density: 

 

21. Overall, the size, sitting scale, design and materials of the proposed works 
are considered to be satisfactory. The works would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon the character of the immediate surroundings, 
visual amenity, character and setting of the area and streetscene. It is 
noted that this wall reflects a similar design and scale to that which is 
present at the property nearby, No.9 Cranbourne Park 

 
22. The proposal respects the design of the existing house and the wider 

street scene. The submitted plans show that materials of construction 
used, are sympathetic to the existing dwellinghouse and will incorporate 
external facing materials that complement those used in the host property 
and existing boundary treatments. 

 
23. The development would not be an overdevelopment of the site  

24. The proposed works accord with guidance set out in the ‘Quality Places’ 
SPD in that there is no unacceptable impact on the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties through overbearing impact, overshadowing, 
overlooking and or a loss of privacy.  

 

Access, Parking and Transport Matters: 

 

25. The proposal will remove a section of driveway/off road parking at the rear 
of the property, however off-road parking will still remain within the 
property’s curtilage in the form of the existing detached garage. It is 
considered the proposed works will not to be to the detriment of highway 
safety, they would not alter visibility compared with the existing boundary 
treatments at the property. 

 

Ecology and Trees: 

 

26. HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment) screening was not required for 
this development as it falls outside the designated zone of impact. 

27. There will be no adverse impact upon trees or other natural features 
worthy of retention. 

Residential Amenity: 

 

61



28. Saved policy 59.BE requires proposed development to avoid unduly 
impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, noise and fumes. 

29. Noise and fumes would only be likely to cause issues during the 
construction phase. 

30. The proposed works accord with guidance set out in the ‘Quality Places’ 
SPD in that there is no unacceptable impact on the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties through overbearing impact, overshadowing, 
overlooking and or a loss of privacy.  

 
 
Equalities Implications: 
 

31. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality 
duty. Section149 states:- 
a. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to: 
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share 
it; 

iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
32. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 

equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It 
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications. 

 

Conclusion 
 

33. In conclusion of the assessment above it is considered that the proposal is 
in keeping with the appearance of the original dwelling and the character 
of the local area and would not have a harmful impact upon residential 
amenity. Subsequently the proposal is deemed to be in accordance with to 
the National Planning Policy Framework, saved policy 59.BE of the saved 
Local Plan Review 2001-2011, policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the Quality Places Supplementary 
Planning Document (2011), and the Hedge End, West End and Botley 
Character Area Appraisal 

 
 
 

62


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Financial Management Report
	9 Planning Application - Land to the south of Maddoxford Lane and west of Westfield, Boorley Green, Botley, SO32 2DB - F/19/85178
	10 Planning Application - 33 Cranbourne Park, Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 0NX - H/20/88566

